S217979

Case No.	

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,)
Plaintiff and Respondent,) Court of Appeal Nos.) F066645/F066646
v.)
) Kern County
KAMAL KENNY NASSER and) Superior Court Nos.
GHASSAN ELMALIH,) CV-276603/CV-276962
Defendants and Appellants.)))

PETITION FOR REVIEW

After Decision by the Court of Appeal Fifth Appellate District Filed March 10, 2014 SUPREME COURT
FILED

APR 2 2 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

STEVEN GRAFF LEVINE 1112 Montana Avenue #309 Santa Monica, CA 90403 (310) 497-1974 Bar No. 140585

Attorney for Appellants

INTRODUCTION

Appellants Kamal Nasser and Ghassan Elmalih petition for review of the decision of the Fifth Appellate District (attached as Exhibit A), pursuant to rules 8.500 and 8.504 of the California Rules of Court. The People brought a civil action under Business and Professions Code section 17200 seeking injunctive relief against appellants' Internet cafes, claiming that appellants' phone cards, which allowed a purchaser (and nonpurchaser) to enter a sweepstakes on computer terminals in the business, rendered the computers illegal slot machines under Penal Code sections 330a, 330b and 330.1. The trial court granted the People's preliminary injunction and an appeal was taken pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 904.1, subdivision (a)(6). The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's order on the basis that appellants' computers constituted illegal slot machines under

Penal Code section 330b. 1

A. Grewal Created a Published Conflict

In allowing appellants' businesses to be shut down, the Court of Appeal explicitly rejected the Third District's February 4, 2003 holding in *Trinkle v. California State Lottery* (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 1401 (*Trinkle II*), claiming its test for determining what constitutes an illegal slot machine, i.e., that the machine *itself* must determine the element of chance, was "in error." (224 Cal.App.4th at p. 541.)

In *Trinkle II*, the Third District held that "the elements of a slot machine [in section 330b] are (1) the insertion of money or other object which causes the machine to operate, (2) the operation of the machine is unpredictable and governed by chance, and (3) by reason of the chance operation of the machine, the user may be entitled to receive a thing of value." (*Trinkle II*, 105 Cal.App.4th at p. 1410) The court explained, "the Legislature linked the element of chance to the operation of the machine, requiring that the machine itself determine the element of chance and become the object of play." (*Id.* at p. 1411.)

In rejecting the *Trinkle II* holding, *Grewal* significantly broadened the criminal reach of section 330b by holding that the element of chance is to be determined from the <u>user's</u> perspective, and it is immaterial that the

This case is the unpublished companion to the published case of *People v. Grewal* (2014) 224 Cal.App.4th 527; the Court of Appeal stated that the fact the appellants in *Grewal* sold internet time instead of phone cards (as here) had no effect on the court's analysis: "With no material differences, the same rationale and disposition follows in those cases as is stated here." (224 Cal.App.4th at p. 531, n. 1.) The court's legal analysis is identical in both opinions. For the Court's convenience, this petition will cite to the published *Grewal* legal analysis when appropriate. If the case is accepted for review, however, petitioner requests that the Court consider making *Nasser* the lead case because its phone cards are unquestionably valuable, and its business promotion clearly constitutes a legal sweepstakes under California law. (See discussion *infra*, at pages 16-17, 23.)

that the machine itself did not determine the element of chance. Now, an illegal slot machine is found whenever "upon the payment of money (i.e., the purchase of phone cards or Internet time), patrons can activate computer sweepstakes games on the terminals, and based on 'chance' or 'other outcome of operation unpredictable by' the *patron*, win cash prizes." (Slip opn. 11; 224 Cal.App.4th at pp. 540-541, emphasis added.)

In creating a published conflict, the Court of Appeal ignored the fact the Legislature had amended Penal Code section 330b three times since Trinkle II was decided – in September 2003, 2004 and 2010 – and left its decision and analysis intact, signifying the Legislature's approval of the Trinkle II analysis. "Where a statute has been construed by judicial decision, and that construction is not altered by subsequent legislation, it must be presumed that the Legislature is aware of the judicial construction and approves of it.' [Citations.] 'There is a strong presumption that when the Legislature reenacts a statute which has been judicially construed it adopts the construction placed on the statute by the courts.' [Citation.]" (Wilkoff v. Superior Court (1985) 38 Cal.3d 345, 353.) In other words, in changing and dramatically expanding the criminal definition of "slot machine" from that set forth in Trinkle II, the Grewal court not only created a published conflict, it went against the Legislature's intent as well.

B. Grewal Made Bad Law

Appellants sell valuable "Tel-Connect" and "Inter-Connect" phone cards, which allow purchasers to pay three cents a minute for domestic calls and five cents a minute for international calls with no hidden charges. Like a wide variety of other lawful businesses, appellant promoted sales by means of a sweepstakes feature that allows customers and noncustomers alike to win cash prizes. Under *Regal Petroleum California Gasoline Retailers v. Regal Petroleum Corp.* (1958) 50 Cal.2d 844, 853-857 (*Regal Petroleum*), so long as there is a legitimate free method of entry into the

sweepstakes or promotion, the promotion is perfectly legal. Appellants' business promotion is no different than McDonald's Monopoly, Burger King's "Be the King" Sweepstakes, the Pepsi Bottle Cap sweepstakes or the My Coke Rewards sweepstakes, or countless others like them.

And unlike the typical slot machine case, where a person hazards a coin or something of value into a machine to win a prize, in a sweepstakes, the person has purchased a legitimate product and voluntarily enters the sweepstakes, or has simply entered the sweepstakes for free; in trying to win the prize, the person hazards nothing of value; the person cannot lose, he or she can only win. *Grewal* failed to consider this critical fact in determining whether appellants' sweepstakes can ever meet the definition of a "slot machine" as nothing of value is risked or hazarded to win the prize. In addition, *Grewal* unceremoniously cast aside the 11-year-old *Trinkle II* test, which required the machine *itself* to contain the element of chance, and now "chance" is viewed from the user's perspective, which unjustly broadens the criminal reach of the statute.

Overnight, appellants' business promotion went from a legal sweepstakes where a standard desktop computer revealed a predetermined prize, to a legal sweepstakes that would be lawful if not delivered on a computer, but is now illegal because it is delivered on a computer, as that computer now constitutes an illegal slot machine under section 330b. In criminalizing sweepstakes in this manner, the Court of Appeal has essentially outlawed all business sweepstakes in California.

After *Grewal*, individuals will be able to bring Business and Professions Code section 17200 unfair business practice suits against any company running a legal sweepstakes promotion where the winning prize is revealed over a smart phone or computer, or by purchase through a vending machine.

OUESTIONS PRESENTED

- 1. Whether Grewal's expansion of the Penal Code section 330b definition of slot machine is sound or warranted as its holding (1) violates the Legislature's intent (Wilkoff, supra, 38 Cal.3d at p. 353); (2) constitutes improper judicial legislation ("whatever may be thought of the wisdom, expediency or policy of [a statute, a court has] no power to rewrite the statute to make it conform to a presumed intention not expressed." (Morillion v. Royal Packing Co. (2000) 22 Cal.4th 575, 585); (3) violates stare decisis as this Court has said this about a Court of Appeal decision: "Its judgment stands, therefore, as a decision of a court of last resort in this state, until and unless disapproved by this court or until change of the law by legislative action." (Cole v. Rush (1945) 45 Cal.2d 345, 351, overruled on other grounds in Vesely v. Sager (1971) 5 Cal.3d 153, 167); (4) violates appellant's due process rights, as a potential judicial violation of due process comes into play when a "judicial interpretation of criminal law . . . alters the situation of an accused to his disadvantage by . . . making criminal an action innocent when done." (People v. Sobiek (1973) 30 Cal.App.3d 458, 472); and (5) is overbroad, as it criminalizes a host of activities that before were not criminal, including dispensing lottery tickets from a lottery vending machine; offering any promotional sweepstakes from a vending machine where a prize can be won where the user buys the product, such as bottle cap sweepstakes; and offering any sweepstakes that has a feature where, after buying the product, the winning prize is revealed on the patron's home computer or smart phone.
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeal erred in holding, in the first instance, that a legal sweepstakes promotion offering a prize revealed on a computer can ever constitute a "slot machine," as the patron has not hazarded or risked anything of value for the chance to win the prize?

NECESSITY FOR REVIEW

The effect of the *Grewal* holding is far reaching. By failing to consider the "insertion of money" element in the context of a legal sweepstakes promotion, and by holding that "chance" is now to be viewed from the perspective of the user and not the machine itself, the court expanded section 330b so that it essentially outlaws legal business sweepstakes promotions in California where the result is revealed on a computer or smart phone. Without the Court's review, overburdened civil courts can now expect a rash of unfair business practice suits to be filed against companies conducting sweepstakes promotions in California.

In addition, review is necessary to resolve the published conflict with *Trinkle II*. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500, subd. (b) [review may be ordered "when necessary to secure uniformity of decision"].) Indeed, resolving a published conflict is the most compelling reason for the Court to grant review, as trial courts are now free to pick either opinion, as the rule of *stare decisis* requiring a court of inferior jurisdiction to follow a Court of Appeal opinion, "has no application where there is more than one appellate court decision, and such appellate opinions are in conflict. In such a situation, the court exercising inferior jurisdiction can and must make a choice between the conflicting decisions." (*Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1962) 57 Cal.2d 450, 456.) Accordingly, Justice Broussard said this about the Court's function where there is a published conflict: "when Court of Appeal decisions conflict, it is our function to resolve that conflict." (*Newman v. Emerson Radio Corp.* (1989) 973, 1000 (dis. opn. of Broussard, J.).)

STATEMENT OF FACTS²

Appellants operate stores that sell "Tel-Connect" and "Inter-Connect" prepaid telephone cards. (Record Transcript ("RT") 13.) Appellants' telephone cards are furnished by Phone-Sweeps, LLC, a company based near Toronto, Canada. (RT 6.) Phone-Sweeps' wholesale telephone service provider is located in Texas. (RT 17.) Appellants and Phone-Sweeps entered into a licensing agreement so that Appellants could sell the prepaid telephone cards in their stores. (RT 42.)

The prepaid telephone cards look like credit cards, and purchasers are registered by name, address and some form of identification. The back of the card contains a PIN number. To place a phone call, customers call a toll-free access number, provide the PIN number, and then dial their desired number. Phone-Sweeps' wholesale telephone service provider keeps track of the minutes used across the entire network. Phone Sweeps' customers use between 900,000 and 1.5 million minutes per week. (RT 16-18.)

Phone-Sweeps' main competitors are Verizon, AT&T, and other large national brands. In order to compete with them, Phone-Sweeps cards offer a lower per minute phone rate (three cents per minute for domestic calls and five cents per minute for international calls) and the card has no hidden charges, such as maintenance and PIN fees or minimum calling times. In addition, the card is re-chargeable, so minutes left are not wasted, and are rolled into the new minutes purchased. All of these features make the card more valuable per minute than its competitors. (RT 11-14.) Phone-Sweeps' revenue is derived solely from its phone card sales. (RT 16.)

The facts regarding appellants' business practice are not in dispute, and are generally taken from Appellants' Opening Brief ("AOB") to the Court of Appeal. The trial court heard the *Nasser* and *Elmalih* cases together, and the Reporter's Transcript is identical in both cases. The facts appear in the AOB on pages 2 - 9.

Despite these benefits, Phone-Sweeps found that the only way it could compete in this industry was for its licensees to offer a promotional sweepstakes to encourage the sale of its card over that of its competitors. (RT 9-10.) Phone-Sweeps also provides the computer software system that operates its sweepstakes programs, including the computer sweepstakes games. (RT 18-20.) When a customer purchases a telephone card or purchases more time on his existing card, he receives 100 sweepstakes points for each dollar spent on prepaid telephone time. Thus, if a customer purchases \$20 in telephone time, he receives 667 minutes of domestic phone time. (*Nasser* Clerk's Transcript ("NCT") 25.)

Noncustomers also receive sweepstakes points because no purchase is necessary to enter the sweepstakes. Persons over the age of 18 who enters appellants' stores can receive 100 free sweepstakes points for that day. (RT 22.) Additionally, noncustomers can also receive free sweepstakes points by mailing in request form. They receive 200 free points with each mail-in request. (RT 22.)

Customers may enter the free sweepstakes by using their sweepstakes points either at the sales clerk's point of sale terminal or at the computer terminals provided at appellants' premises. The customers' available telephone time is not reduced by time spent on the computer terminals revealing the results of the prize tickets, nor is the telephone time reduced by any result or outcome from the entry into the sweepstakes. The only reduction in telephone time is due to its use in making calls. In other words, the sweepstakes feature allows a customer to win; he or she cannot lose. (RT 62, 80-87.) Currently, a customer gains access to the computer sweepstakes function by manually entering his or her PIN number on the terminal keyboard. (RT 21.)

Once the computer sweepstakes function is accessed, the customer is presented with a number of games ranging from popular cell phone gaming themes to traditional slot style gaming themes, which are activated by a touch screen or mouse. (NCT 25-26.) While using the free points to display the outcome of the sweepstakes tickets, all winning results are accumulated in a separate account (called "winning points"), which the system tracks and displays on the screen. (RT 36.) Winning points are redeemable for cash at the register for \$1 per 100 points. (NCT 27.) For example, 2,400 winning points would result in a cash prize of \$24.00.

If a customer does not wish to play the sweepstakes games, he or she simply purchases his phone card and leaves the store with a valuable phone card. He may also ask the cashier to do a "Quick Redeem" at the register to reveal whether his sweepstakes points have won him a prize. (RT 19, 79.)

Each sweepstakes consists of a finite pool or batch of entries. (RT 26, 48-49.) This is exactly the same as McDonald's Monopoly and any other "finite pool" sweepstakes. Approximately 65 million entries are in each pool, and within those entries, a certain number are predetermined to be winners. (RT 49.)

Phone-Sweeps main server in Canada creates the pools. (RT 46.) The main server randomizes the entries in each pool, puts them into a set, in sequential order, and then delivers the pool in that sequential order to the "Point of Sale" computer (or server) in appellants' stores. (RT 63, 81.) There is nothing appellants or their customers can do to change the sequence or contents of the entries once they leave Phone-Sweeps' main server in Canada. (RT 23, 63, 81.)

When customers enter the computer sweepstakes via Quick Redeem or by utilizing the computerized game display, they are simply receiving and obtaining the results of the next available entry or entries, in sequence. Thus, the outcomes are predetermined solely by the sequential entries, not by how the customers play the games. The customer cannot impact the result. Additionally, neither appellants' servers (i.e., the point of sale computers) nor the computer terminals where the computer sweepstakes games are played contain a random number generator or any other way to randomize or alter the sequence of the entry results. (RT 20-23, 80-82.) The computer terminals are standard, off the shelf Hewlett-Packard computers that anyone could purchase at a retail store. (RT 19-20.)

As to the prepaid telephone time actually used by customers, appellants' expert testified it was his understanding that the phone cards' usage rates "came within the range of the industry which includes the big guys like AT&T and Verizon," (RT 70) and appellants also provided the trial court with an expert declaration stating that during 2011, California customers used approximately 31 percent of the Tel-Connect and Inter-Connect phone minutes that they purchased. (NCT 194.)

DISCUSSION OF GREWAL

Because it is important to put *Grewal* in its proper context, the petition will first discuss legal sweepstakes and business promotions conducted by corporations across California, and then it will discuss the *Trinkle II* case.

A. Sweepstakes or Business Promotions

Lotteries are illegal in California (Pen. Code § 319), with the constitutionally authorized exception for the California State Lottery (article IV, § 19, subd. (a)). Sweepstakes or business promotions, on the other hand, are legal and are regularly utilized by companies to increase sales. The difference between the two is simple: so long as a sweepstakes or business promotion, in addition to purchase of a genuine product, has a legitimate free method of entry, it is legal.

As stated by the Court in Regal Petroleum, supra, 50 Cal.2d 844, 853-854, "there are three elements necessary to constitute a lottery. These elements are: (1) The disposition of property, (2) upon a contingency determined by chance, (3) to a person who has paid a valuable consideration for the chance of winning the prize, that is to say, one who has hazarded something of value upon the chance." (Emphasis in original.) But "in order to constitute consideration within the definition of a lottery, there must be valuable consideration paid, or promised to be paid by the ticket holder." (Id. at p. 862, emphasis in original.) Thus, so long as there is a legitimate free method of entry into the sweepstakes or promotion, the consideration element is absent. (Id. at pp. 854-857.) The fact that the business owner receives a benefit in increased sales and patronage is not consideration and is irrelevant. (Id. at pp. 854-857, 861.)

÷.

Accordingly, the promotion in *Regal Petroleum* was deemed a legitimate business promotion, as gasoline purchasers and nonpurchasers alike were given a chance to win the prizes. (50 Cal.2d at p. 862.) The giveaways in *People v. Cardas* (1933) 137 Cal.App.Supp. 788 and in *People v. Carpenter* (1956) 141 Cal.App.2d 884, were deemed legitimate business promotions, as sweepstakes tickets were provided to theater attendees and nonattendees alike.

As stated in *People v. Shira* (1976) 62 Cal.App.3d 442, which held defendant's business promotion to be a lottery where everyone paid for a ticket and the ticket only promoted game itself: "An obvious important factual distinction between [Cardas, Carpenter and Regal Petroleum] which found a lottery did not exist and the case at bench is that they involved promotional schemes by using prize tickets to increase the purchases of legitimate goods and services in the free market place, i.e., theater tickets (Cardas and Carpenter) and gasoline and service from filling stations (Regal). While here, the RINGO game is conducted as a business

and the game itself is the product being merchandized." (*Id.* at p. 458.) And for those legitimate business promotions to be legal, the court further held that any and all persons who want a sweepstakes ticket must be given the ticket free of charge and without any of them paying for the opportunity to win the prize. (*Id.* at p. 459.)

Appellants' Phone-Sweeps' phone cards sweepstakes is a legal business promotion under California law. It promoted the sale of a legitimate phone card that gave true value to the purchaser, and any and all persons who came into the store were entitled to enter the sweepstakes for free and did not have to pay for the opportunity to win a prize.

B. Trinkle v. California State Lottery (Trinkle II)

Trinkle sought declaratory relief to determine whether the California State Lottery's (CSL's) use of electronic vending machines to dispense SCRATCHERS lottery tickets is an illegal use of slot machines. (Id. at p. 1403.) The parties stipulated that the CSL provides SCRATCHERS tickets for its electromagnetic device, which is a stand-alone device containing bins into which 100 - 250 tickets are loaded. A lottery employee loads the tickets into the bin in a sequential order. A purchaser can see which SCRATCHERS game he is playing, but cannot tell whether the visible ticket is a winning ticket. The tickets are dispensed sequentially, according to how they were loaded in the bin. Winning is determined by scratching off the substance covering the symbols underneath. There are a finite number of SCRATCHERS tickets available in one "game" and each ticket Every SCRATCHERS game has a has its own unique number. predetermined number of winning tickets distributed throughout the "deal." Once loaded, each electromagnetic device dispenses a SCRATCHER ticket for cash received. The stand-alone device does not have any ability to generate random numbers or symbols, or conduct any type of process of random selection. Instead, each predetermined winning ticket is dispense in

the order it was loaded into the device. (105 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1403-1405.)

The court held that, "The mere use of electronic vending machines to dispense lottery tickets does not transform the lawful sale of lottery tickets into an unlawful use of slot machines, where as here, the machines inject no additional element of chance into the determination or distribution of the winning lottery ticket." (*Id.* at p. 1405.)

The *Trinkle II* court first looked to the statute itself: "The use or possession of a slot machine is prohibited by Penal Code section 330b which defines a slot machine in pertinent part as any device 'that is adapted ... for use in such a way that, as a result of the insertion of any piece of money or coin or other object . . . such machine or device is caused to operate or may be operated, and *by reason of any element of hazard or chance or of other outcome of such operation unpredictable by him*, the user may receive or become entitled to receive any . . . thing of value" (Pen. Code, § 330b, subd. (2).) Penal Code section 330.1 similarly defines a slot machine." (105 Cal.App.4th at p. 1409, emphasis in original.)

Section 330.1, noted the court, defines slot machine as a device that is or may be "used or operated in such a way that, as a result of the insertion of any piece of money or coin or other object such machine or device is caused to operate or may be operated or played, mechanically, electrically, automatically or manually, and by reason of any element of hazard or chance, the user may receive or become entitled to receive anything of value" (105 Cal.App.4th at p. 1409, n. 7.)

As the two sections were enacted in the same Legislative session in 1950, and the legislative history indicated they did not conflict, the court treated the definitions as one and the same. (105 Cal.App.4th at p. 1409.) "Thus, the elements of a slot machine are (1) the insertion of money or other object which causes the machine to operate, (2) the operation of the machine is unpredictable and governed by chance, and (3) by reason of the

chance operation of the machine, the user may become entitled to receive a thing of value." (105 Cal.App.4th at p. 1410.)

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