IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA MAY 1 3 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Deputy

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

KAMAL KENNY NASSER,

Defendant/Appellant.

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

V.

GHASSAN ELMALIH

Defendant/Appellant.

CASE NO. S217979

Appellate Case No: F066645, consolidated with F066646

Kern County Sup Ct No. CV-276603

Appellate Case No: F066646, consolidated with F066645

Kern County Sup Ct No. CV-276962

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LISA S. GREEN, District Attorney
County of Kern, State of California
GREGORY A. PULSKAMP, SBN 166784
Supervising Deputy District Attorney
1215 Truxtun Avenue, 4th Floor

INTRODUCTION

Respondent, the People of the State of California, answer the petition for review challenging the California Court of Appeal for the Fifth District's unpublished decision in *People v. Nasser et al.*(F066645/F066646).¹

Petitioners operated sweepstakes gambling schemes in Kern County.

Petitioners purportedly offered legitimate retail business products, most prominently the sale of phone cards, which they promoted with a "sweepstakes" that patrons played most often using gambling-themed games.² The purported sweepstakes were operated using sophisticated computer software on computer networks in Petitioners' businesses.

Patrons of Petitioners' businesses played the cambling themed games on

Patrons of Petitioners' businesses played the gambling-themed games on

¹ The People's answer addresses Kamal Nasser and Ghassan Elmalih's petition for review. The petition of Appellants Kirnpal Grewal and Phillip Ernest Walker in *People of the State of California v. Grewal, et al.*, Co. App. Case Nos. F065450 and F065451, Supreme Court Case No. S217896, and the petition of Appellant John C. Stidman in *People of the State of California v. Grewal, et al.*, Co. App. Case No. F065689, Supreme Court Case No. S217896, have been answered by the People in a separate filing. As recognized by the Court of Appeal, the only difference between the consolidated cases of *Grewal* and the consolidated cases of *Nasser* was that *Nasser* involved the purported sweepstakes promotion of the sale of long distance phone cards instead of internet time; the same rationale and disposition applied in both *Grewal* and *Nasser*. (*Grewal*, supra, at p. 531, fn. 1.) Because the Petitioners in this case cite to the published decision in *Grewal* in their petition (Petition for Review, p. 3, fn. 1.), the People will do the same for ease of reference and consistency.

² The term "sweepstakes" is used solely to describe the ruse used by petitioners in their gambling schemes. This term is not intended to in any way connote that the schemes are legitimate or lawful.

the software systems and won cash prizes. Petitioners' businesses were essentially mini-casinos that used integrated computer systems to evade California's gambling laws.

The Court of Appeal found that Petitioners' gambling schemes were unlawful under Penal Code section 330b. With much hyperbole, Petitioners misrepresent the Court of Appeal's decision—alleging it will create chaos and threaten promotional sweepstakes such as those used by McDonald's and Coca Cola. But the sky is not falling in the world of legitimate promotional sweepstakes—it has only collapsed on Petitioners' illegal "sweepstakes" café gambling schemes. Far from criminalizing lawful business promotions and home computers, the Court of Appeal's decision merely applied the established precedent of People ex rel. Bill Lockyer v. Pacific Gaming Technologies (2000) 82 Cal. App. 4th 699 (Lockyer), which dealt with a very similar sweepstakes gambling scheme, and held that the scheme was illegal under Penal Code section 330b. The Court of Appeal also relied upon the persuasive reasoning of a very recent decision of the United States District Court for the Southern District of California, which held that sweepstakes café gambling operations almost identical to Petitioners' schemes violated Penal Code section 330b. (Lucky Bob's Internet Café, LLC v. California Dept. of Justice, et al. (S.D.Cal. 2013) 2013 U.S. Dist. Lexis 62470 (Lucky Bob's).)

Instead of the on-point precedent relied upon by the Court of Appeal in its *Grewal/Nasser* decisions, Petitioners employ an expansive and unwarranted reading of *Trinkle v. California State Lottery* (2003) 105

Cal.App.4th 1401 (*Trinkle II*). In *Trinkle II*, the California Court of Appeal for the Third Appellate District held that the State Lottery's sale of lawful paper lottery tickets by means of an ordinary vending machine did not convert that vending machine into an illegal slot machine. (*Trinkle II*, supra, 105 Cal.App.4th at p. 1411.) The facts in *Trinkle II* are inapplicable to Petitioners' schemes. Indeed, Petitioners' operations are far more similar to the illegal sweepstakes gambling schemes that were at issue in the *Lockyer* and *Lucky Bob's* decisions.

Accordingly, review is not necessary to secure uniformity of decision and these petitions do not present a viable ground for review under California Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1). The People request that this Court deny the petitions.

THERE ARE NO BASES TO GRANT REVIEW

A. There Is No Conflict Between The Districts; *Trinkle II* Is Inapposite To The *Grewal/Nassers* Decisions.

While the Court of Appeal in *Grewal/Nasser* took issue with some of *Trinkle II's* dicta, the Court set forth the reasons why *Trinkle II* did not apply to Petitioner's illegal operations.

Trinkle II is distinguishable factually because, in the words of a recent federal district court decision, it involved a passive vending machine that "simply delivered a finished product--the lottery ticket." (Lucky Bob's Internet Café, LLC v. California Dept. of Justice (S.D.Cal. 2013) 2013 U.S.Dist. Lexis 62470, p. *8 (Lucky Bob's).) Here, in contrast, all the trappings and experiences involved in playing traditional slot machines are actualized in one form or another by defendants' sweepstakes software systems and networked computer terminals, since in each case points are received upon making a purchase, a game program is activated by the customer at a terminal, points are used or bet in selected increments, audio-visual scenes are played out on the screen to create the feel and anticipation of a slot machine or other gambling game, and prizes are won. For these reasons, the integrated systems in our case are in a different category than the vending machine in Trinkle II. The mere fact that winnings are based on a predetermined sequence of results programmed into the software system, rather than on a randomly spinning wheel (or the like), does not change the nature and character of devices herein, which as integrated systems function as slot machines.

(Grewal, supra, 224 Cal.App.4th at p. 545, fn. omitted, italics added.)

The *Grewal/Nasser* court also endorsed the reasoning of the federal District Court in *Lucky Bob's*. In *Lucky Bob's*, the District Court heard arguments identical to the Petitioners' here. In *Lucky Bob's*, the District Court distinguished *Trinkle II*:

The [internet café sweepstakes gambling] system here is more similar to the vending machines at issue in *Lockyer*. In *Lockyer*, the vending machines dispensed pre-paid telephone cards, but also had a sweepstakes feature that randomly paid out money after playing visual and audio displays that mimicked a slot machine. [Citation.] Winners were determined by a preset computer program, which decided "predetermined winners spread out over a period of time." [Citation.] The court in *Lockyer* held that the vending machine was an illegal slot machine under Section 330. [Citation.]

(Lucky Bob's, supra, 2013 U.S. Dist. Lexis 62470, *9.)

In short, the Court of Appeal, like the federal District Court before it, simply distinguished *Trinkle II*, and found *Lockyer* to be the more applicable precedent to follow in relation to Petitioners' gambling schemes. The Court's decisions in *Grewal/Nasser* represent sound legal reasoning and do not create a conflict with *Trinkle II*—a case it did not rely upon.

In addition to properly relying upon California precedent, the Court of Appeal's decisions in *Grewal/Nasser are* in full accord with numerous non-California decisions addressing the illegal "sweepstakes" café gambling phenomenon. For example, the Alabama Supreme Court held that "Quincy's MegaSweeps" sweepstakes software system violated the state's gambling laws in *Barber v. Jefferson County Racing Association* (2006) 960 So.2d 599 [overruled on other ground by *Tyson v. Macon County* (2010) 43 So.3d 587, 591].) The Mississippi Court of Appeals held that a similar computer system that sold telephone cards along with offering "sweepstakes" prizes constituted a slot machine under Mississippi law in *Moore v. Mississippi Gaming Commission* (2011) 64 So.3d 537. The

United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit affirmed a criminal conviction of an internet café operator for illegal gambling under Texas state law in *United States v. Davis* (5th Cir. 2012) 690 F.3d 330. Far from being an anomalous case, *Grewal/Nasser* are mainstream cases consistent with other state appellate court decisions addressing these same types of gambling systems.

B. The *Grewal/Nasser* Decisions Do Not Criminalize Legitimate Promotional Sweepstakes.

Petitioners, without any supporting evidence in the record on appeal, advance hypothetical scenarios asserting that the Grewal/Nasser decisions will criminalize sweepstakes promotions such as those offered by McDonald's and Coca Cola. In the context of claims of discriminatory enforcement, courts have consistently rebuffed other sweepstakes gambling schemes' efforts to compare themselves with legitimate retail sweepstakes promotions. (People v. Shira (1976) 62 Cal.App.3d 442, 464, fn. 15 [where the court refused to address a discriminatory prosecution argument on appeal because the record did not contain "an adequate showing of an intentional and purposeful singling out of defendants for prosecution on an 'invidious discrimination' basis"]; State of New Mexico v. Vento (2012) 286 P.2d 627, 634-635 [rejecting a criminal defendant's invitation to compare his internet café gambling scheme to promotions conducted by McDonald's, Coca-Cola or Albertson's]; see also Lockyer, supra, 82

Cal.App.4th at p. 704, fn. 7 [appellate court rejected claim by Venda Tel operator that its illegal device was lawful because Coca-Cola and M&M's also dispensed products from similar vending machines — appellate court observed that there was no evidence in the record to support such an argument].) Similarly, this Court should decline Petitioners' invitation to consider hypothetical scenarios not before it.

Moreover, the very similar holding in *Lockyer* did not result in adverse effects on legitimate promotional sweepstakes that Petitioners suggest will result here. Indeed, the claim that they conduct legitimate promotional sweepstakes is Petitioners' primary ruse—one used to sow doubt and confusion among law enforcement and the courts regarding the true nature of their gambling systems. But the mere denomination of something as a sweepstakes promotion does not make an otherwise illegal activity legal. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17539.3, subd. (c); see also Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17539.5, subd. (a)(12).)

C. The Rule Of Lenity Has No Application To These Cases

Citing well-established and applicable precedent, the Court of Appeal's decisions fully addressed the non-application of the rule of lenity to these matters. (*Grewal, supra*, 224 Cal.App.4th at pp. 538-539.) The Court found there was no ambiguity as to the meaning of Penal Code section 330b that would warrant the rule of lenity's application to

Petitioners' gambling schemes. (*Ibid.*) This Court has described California's multiple statutory definitions of slot machines as "broad." (*Hotel Employees & Restaurant Employees International Union v. Davis* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 585, 593-594.) There is no ambiguity as to the meaning of Penal Code section 330b, and certainly no reasonable competing statutory interpretation that requires the rule of lenity's application to this case. The language of the statute and the legislative intent are clear, and there is no reason to resort to the strained extension of *Trinkle II* proffered by Petitioners.

"Application of the rule of lenity ensures that criminal statutes will provide fair warning concerning conduct rendered illegal and strikes the appropriate balance between the legislature, the prosecutor, and the court in defining criminal liability. [Citation.]" (*Liparota v. United States* (1985) 471 U.S. 419, 427.) Petitioners here are not at all unwary and were on full notice of the risk of criminality in their actions. Indeed, their sweepstakes gambling systems are a deliberate and sophisticated attempt to circumvent state gambling laws. (See Dunbar & Russell, *The History of Internet Cafes and the Current Approach to Their Regulation* (2012) 3 U.N.L.V. Gaming L.J. 243.) This is certainly not a situation that warrants a new extension of the rule lenity, especially not to protect opportunistic criminals attempting to exploit what they see as loopholes in California's gambling laws.

CONCLUSION

Review of the Fifth District Court of Appeal's *Grewal/Nasser* decisions is not necessary to secure uniformity of decision nor is it necessary to settle an important question of law. Petitioners' dissatisfaction with the result of the *Grewal/Nasser* decisions is not proper grounds for review. The *Grewal/Nasser* decisions are wholly consistent with existing case law and California's gambling statutes, and does not warrant review by this Court.